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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Ngee Ann Polytechnic (the "Polytechnic"), which comprise the
statement of financial position as at March 31, 2020, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and reserves and statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies, as set out on pages 6 to 65.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements of the Polytechnic are properly drawn up in accordance
with the provisions of the Singapore Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”), the Public Sector
(Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018 (the “Governance Act”), the Ngee Ann Polytechnic Act (Cap. 207,1985
Revised Edition) (the "NP Act") and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”) so as to present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Polytechnic as at March 31, 2020 and of the financial
performance, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of the Polytechnic for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing (“SSAs”). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Polytechnic in accordance with the Accounting
and Corporate Regulatory Authority (“ACRA”) Code of Professional Conduct and Ethics for Public Accountants
and Accounting Entities (“ACRA Code”) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information obtained at the date of this
auditor’s report is the Statement by the Ngee Ann Polytechnic Council (the “Council”) on page 1.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC

Responsibilities of Management and the Council for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with the provisions of the Governance Act, the Charities Act, the NP Act and SB-FRS, and for such internal control
as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

A statutory board is constituted based on its constitutional act and its dissolution requires Parliament’s approval.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Polytechnic’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless there is an intention to wind up the Polytechnic or for the Polytechnic to cease
operations.

The responsibilities of the Council include overseeing the Polytechnic’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with SSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

(a) Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

(b) Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Polytechnic’s internal control.

(c) Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

(d) Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Polytechnic’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Polytechnic to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC

(e) Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Council regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion:

(a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the
Polytechnic during the year are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the
Governance Act, the NP Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or
managed by the Polytechnic; and

(b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Polytechnic
whether purchased, donated or otherwise.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with SSAs. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit section of our report. We are independent of the
Polytechnic in accordance with the ACRA Code together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the financial statements in Singapore, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements and the ACRA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on management’s compliance.

Responsibilities of Management for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Governance Act, the NP Act and the
requirements of any other written law applicable to moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic. This responsibility
includes monitoring related compliance requirements relevant to the Polytechnic, and implementing internal
controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the requirements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL OF

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Compliance Audit

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial
statements. We planned and performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with
the provisions of the Governance Act, the NP Act and the requirements of any other written law applicable to
moneys of or managed by the Polytechnic.

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts,
expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of
material misstatement of the financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Polytechnic’s internal control. Because of the inherent
limitations in any accounting and internal control system, non-compliances may nevertheless occur and not be
detected.

Public Accountants and
Chartered Accountants
Singapore

July 23, 2020
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
March 31, 2020 

Note 2019/2020 2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 

Unrestricted funds 5 395,202 397,408 
Restricted fund - Ngee Ann Polytechnic Fund 32 279,210 275,091 

Total funds of the Polytechnic 674,412 672,499 

Trust Funds 22 10,610 10,877 

Represented by: 

Assets 
Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 6 297,346 369,640 
Right-of-use assets 7 44,226 - 
Intangible assets 8 1,190 1,609 
Subsidiaries 9 475 475 
Loans to students and graduates 11 152 369 

343,389 372,093 

Current assets 

Prepayments 236 268 
Sundry receivables and deposits 12 32,403 31,033 
Government grants receivables 13 269 736 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 10 764 174 
Loans to students and graduates 11 586 431 
Financial assets at fair value to profit or loss 14 451,748 505,043 
Derivative financial instruments 15 1,338 515 

Fixed deposits 16 37,065 5,645 
Cash and bank balances 17 172,400 140,726 

696,809 684,571 
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (cont’d) 
March 31, 2020 

 
 
 
 Note 2019/2020 2018/2019 

  $'000 $'000 

    
Less: Liabilities    
Current liabilities    
Payables and accruals 18 64,374 61,706 
Contract liabilities 19 4,185 3,789 
Lease liabilities 20 40 - 
Derivative financial instruments 15 1,710 589 
    
    
  70,309 66,084 
    
    
Net current assets  626,500 618,487 
    
    
Non-current liabilities    

Payables and accruals 18 913 2,598 
Contract liabilities 19 13,217 13,789 
Lease liabilities 20 9 - 
Deferred capital grants 21 281,338 301,694 
    
    
  295,477 318,081 
    
    
Net assets of the Polytechnic  674,412 672,499 
    
    
Net assets of Trust Funds 22 10,610 10,877 
    
    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Year ended March 31, 2020 

Unrestricted funds Restricted funds Total 

Note 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Income 
Student fees 51,413 53,579 − − 51,413 53,579 
Other income 23 49,623 41,469 3,611 3,776 53,234 45,245 

101,036 95,048 3,611 3,776 104,647 98,824 

Less: Expenditure 
Staff costs 24 217,504 237,777 − − 217,504 237,777 
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 6 38,565 43,082 26 26 38,591 43,108 

Depreciation of right-of-use 
assets 7 2,123 − − − 2,123 - 

Amortisation of intangible 
assets 8 770 1,643 − − 770 1,643 

Repairs and maintenance 14,004 15,652 − − 14,004 15,652 
Public utilities 5,455 4,939 − − 5,455 4,939 
Staff development and benefits 3,852 4,731 − − 3,852 4,731 
Teaching and library materials 3,280 4,107 − − 3,280 4,107 
Tools, furniture and equipment 
expensed off 4,301 6,518 − − 4,301 6,518 

Scholarships, bursaries and 
grants 104 322 3,104 3,122 3,208 3,444 

Transport and communication 1,450 1,698 1 1 1,451 1,699 
Student development, activities 
and welfare 25 12,014 14,388 1,678 1,855 13,692 16,243 

Goods and services tax expense 370 834 18 21 388 855 
Other expenditure 26 17,543 17,828 42 331 17,585 18,159 

321,335 353,519 4,869 5,356 326,204 358,875 

Operating deficit (220,299) (258,471) (1,258) (1,580) (221,557) (260,051) 

Non-operating 
income/(expenses) 

Non-operating income 27 9,787 8,164 7,684 6,161 17,471 14,325 
Non-operating expenses 28 (7,512) (1,378) (6,349) (1,310) (13,861) (2,688) 

2,275 6,786 1,335 4,851 3,610 11,637 

(Deficit)/Surplus before grants (218,024) (251,685) 77 3,271 (217,947) (248,414) 

Grants 
Operating grants from 
government 29 176,384 208,931 − − 176,384 208,931 

Deferred capital grants 
amortised 21 32,657 35,868 − − 32,657 35,868 

209,041 244,799 − − 209,041 244,799 

(Deficit) Surplus for the 
year, representing total 
comprehensive income for 
the year (8,983) (6,886) 77 3,271 (8,906) (3,615) 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVES 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 
 Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds 

 

Accumulated 

surplus 

Endowment 
funds 

(Capital) Subtotal 

Accumulated 

surplus 

Endowment 
funds 

(Capital) Subtotal Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
        
Balance at April 1, 2018 391,809 6,662 398,471 42,140 228,040 270,180 668,651 
        

(Deficit) Surplus for the year, 
representing total 
comprehensive income for the 
year (6,886) – (6,886) 3,271 – 3,271 (3,615) 

Transfer of net realised income 

from Ngee Ann Kongsi 
Endowment Fund to finance 
operations 4,932 – 4,932 (4,932) – (4,932) – 

MOE matching grant 
received/receivable – 891 891 – 98 98 989 

Donations received – – – – 6,474 6,474 6,474 
        
        
Balance at March 31, 2019 389,855 7,553 397,408 40,479 234,612 275,091 672,499 
        
(Deficit) Surplus for the year, 

representing total 
comprehensive income for the 
year (8,983) – (8,983) 77 – 77 (8,906) 

Transfer of net realised income 

from Ngee Ann Kongsi 
Endowment Fund to finance 
operations 5,796 – 5,796 (5,796) – (5,796) – 

MOE matching grant 
received/receivable – 981 981 – 247 247 1,228 

Donations received – – – – 9,591 9,591 9,591 
        
        
Balance at March 31, 2020 386,668 8,534 395,202 34,760 244,450 279,210 674,412 
        
 
 

See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Year ended March 31, 2020 
 

 

 

 Note 2019/2020 2018/2019 

  $'000 $'000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Deficit before grants  (217,947) (248,414) 

Adjustments for:    
   Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  38,591 43,108 
   Depreciation of right-of-use assets  2,123 - 
   Amortisation of intangible assets  770 1,643 
   Amounts recovered  (6) (175) 
   Loss/(Gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  575 (61) 
   Write offs - tuition fees and loans to students  130 21 

   Interest income    
   - fixed deposits  (976) (943) 
   - investments  (10,115) (9,821) 
   - student loans  (1) (2) 

- loan to subsidiary  (16) - 
   Dividend income  (3,039) (3,337) 

Interest expense on lease liabilities  8 - 
   Fair value loss/(gain) on financial assets at fair value through 
      profit or loss and derivatives 

 
11,067 (44) 

    
    
Operating cash flows before working capital changes  (178,836) (218,025) 
   Receivables  (13,176) (10,672) 
   Payables  9,864 9,227 
    
    
Cash used in operations  (182,148) (219,470) 
   Donations received for Endowment Funds  9,591 6,474 
   Interest received from student loans  1 2 

   Repayments of loans to students and graduates  62 32 
    

    
Net cash used in operating activities  (172,494) (212,962) 
    
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
   Purchase of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  (445,658) (376,372) 

   Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through 
      profit or loss 

 
486,625 367,036 

   Purchase of property, plant and equipment A (14,455) (20,992) 
   Addition of intangible assets B (170) (309) 
   Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  128 103 
   Amounts due from subsidiaries  (590) (94) 

   Dividends received  3,096 3,384 
   Interest received:    
   - Fixed deposits  897 791 
   - Investments  10,599 9,762 
   - Loan to subsidiary  16 - 

    
    
Net cash from (used in) investing activities  40,488 (16,691) 
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NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 

 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (cont’d) 
Year ended March 31, 2020 
 

 
 

  2019/2020 2018/2019 

  $'000 $'000 

    

Cash flows from financing activities    

   Operating and capital grants received (Note 21)  195,313 210,940 

   Repayment of lease liabilities  (213) - 
    
    

Net cash from financing activities  195,100 210,940 
    
    

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  63,094 (18,713) 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  146,371 165,084 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  209,465 146,371 
    

    

The cash and cash equivalents comprise:    

   - Fixed deposits (Note 16)  37,065 5,645 

   - Cash and bank balances (Note 17)  172,400 140,726 
    
    
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  209,465 146,371 
    

 

 

Notes to the statement of cash flows: 
 
Note A 
 
During the year, the Polytechnic accrued for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment with an 
aggregate cost of $452,000 (FY 2018/2019: $1,695,000). The cash outflow on acquisition of property, plant 

and equipment amounted to $14,455,000 (FY 2018/2019: $20,992,000). 
 
 
Note B 
 
During the year, the Polytechnic accrued for the acquisition of intangible assets with an aggregate cost of 
$116,000 (FY 2018/2019: $8,000). The cash outflow on acquisition of intangible assets amounted to 

$170,000 (FY 2018/2019: $309,000). 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
 The Polytechnic is established under the Ngee Ann Polytechnic Act, (Cap. 207, 1985 Revised Edition) 

(the “NP Act”) of Singapore and is under the purview of the Ministry of Education (MOE). As a 
statutory board, the Polytechnic is subject to the directions of the Ministry of Education and is 

required to comply with policies and instructions issued from time to time by the supervising ministry 
and other government ministries and departments such as the Ministry of Finance (MOF). 

 
 The Polytechnic is located at 535 Clementi Road, Singapore 599489. 
 
 The principal activity of the Polytechnic is to provide relevant diploma courses to meet the growing 

needs of industry and commerce in Singapore. 

 
 The number of employees as at March 31, 2020 was 1,550 (2018/2019: 1,629). 
 
 The financial statements of the Polytechnic for the year ended March 31, 2020 were authorised for 

issue by the Council on July 23, 2020. 
 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of accounting 

 
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 

Charities Act, Chapter 37 (the “Charities Act”), the Public Sector (Governance) Act 2018, Act 5 of 2018 

(the “Governance Act”), the Ngee Ann Polytechnic Act (Cap. 207,1985 Revised Edition) (the "NP Act") 
and Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”). The financial statements have been 
prepared on the historical cost basis except as disclosed in the accounting policies below. The 
financial statements are presented in Singapore dollars which is also the functional currency of the 
Polytechnic. All financial information presented in Singapore dollars has been rounded to the nearest 
thousand unless otherwise stated. 

 

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods 
and services. 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the 
fair value of an asset or a liability, the Polytechnic takes into account the characteristics of the asset 

or liability which market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at 
the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in the financial 
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are 
within the scope of SB-FRS 102, leasing transactions that are within the scope of SB-FRS 116, and 
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
value in SB-FRS 2 or value in use in SB-FRS 36. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
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In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 
or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows: 

 
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 

that the entity can access at the measurement date; 
 

• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable 
for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

 
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

 

 
2.2 Adoption of new and revised standards 

 
 On April 1, 2019, the Polytechnic has adopted all the new and revised SB-FRS and Interpretations 

of SBFRS (“INT SB-FRS”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations. The 
adoption of these new/revised SB-FRSs and INT SB-FRSs does not result in changes to the 
Polytechnic’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current 

or prior years except as disclosed below. 
 
 
 SB-FRS 116 Leases 

 
SB-FRS 116 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces 

significant changes to lessee accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance 
lease and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at commencement for 
all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low value assets when such recognition 
exemptions are adopted. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting 
have remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adoption of SB-FRS 116 on the Polytechnic’s 
financial statements is described below. 

 

 The date of initial application of SB-FRS 116 for the Polytechnic is April 1, 2019. 
 

The Polytechnic has applied SB-FRS 116 using the cumulative catch-up approach which: 
 

• requires the Polytechnic to recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying SB-FRS 116 as an 
adjustment to the opening balance of accumulated surplus at the date of initial application; and 

 

• does not permit restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under SB-FRS 17 
and INT SB-FRS 104. 

 
 

(a) Impact of the new definition of a lease 
 

The Polytechnic has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to SB-FRS 116 not 
to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in 
accordance with SB-FRS 17 and INT SB-FRS 104 will continue to be applied to those leases entered 
or changed before April 1, 2019. 

 
The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. SB-FRS 116 determines 
whether a contract contains a lease on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control 

the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. This is in contrast 
to the focus on 'risks and rewards' in SB-FRS 17 and INT SB-FRS 104. 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 

 

14 

The Polytechnic applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in SB-FRS 116 to all 
lease contracts entered into or modified on or after April 1, 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee 
in the lease contract). The new definition in SB-FRS 116 does not significantly change the scope 
of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for the Polytechnic. 

 

 
(b) Impact on lessee accounting 

 
Former operating leases 

 
SB-FRS 116 changes how the Polytechnic accounts for leases previously classified as operating 
leases under SB-FRS 17, which were off-balance-sheet. 

 
Applying SB-FRS 116, for all leases, the Polytechnic: 

 
a) Recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the statements of financial position, 

initially measured at the present value of future lease payments; with the right-of-use asset 
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments in accordance with SB-
FRS 116:C8(b)(ii), except for the right-of-use asset for property leases which were measured 

on a retrospective basis as if the Standard had been applied since the commencement date; 
 

b) Recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income; and 

 
c) Separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing 

activities) and interest (presented within operating activities) in the statement of cash flows. 
 

Lease incentives (e.g. free rent period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities whereas under SB-FRS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a 
lease incentive liability, amortised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis. 

 
Under SB-FRS 116, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with SB-FRS 36 

Impairment of Assets. 
 

For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value assets  
(which includes tablets and personal computers, small items of office furniture and telephones), 
the Polytechnic has opted to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted by 
SB-FRS 116. This expense is presented within expenditure in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

 
The Polytechnic has used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-
up approach to leases previously classified as operating leases applying SB-FRS 17: 

 
• The Polytechnic has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably 

similar characteristics. 

 
• The Polytechnic has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities to leases 

for which the lease term ends within 12 months of the date of initial application. 
 

The right-of-use asset and lease liability are accounted for by applying SB-FRS 116 from  
April 1, 2019. 
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(c) Impact on lessor accounting 
 
SB-FRS 116 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under SB-FRS 116, 
a lessor continues to classify leases as either finance leases or operating leases and account for 
those two types of leases differently.  

 
However, SB-FRS 116 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding 
how a lessor manages the risks arising from its residual interest in leased assets. 
 
 

(d) Financial impact of initial application of SB-FRS 116 
 

The weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities 
recognized in the statement of financial position on April 1, 2019 is 2.20% per annum. 
 
The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying SB-FRS 17 at 
March 31, 2019, discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application 
and the lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position at the date of initial 
application. 

 
 2019/2020 

 $’000 

  

Operating lease commitments as at March 31, 2019 343 

Less: Short-term leases and leases of low value assets (79) 

Less: Effect of discounting the above amounts (10) 

Lease liability recognised as at April 1, 2019 254 

 

 

Right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the 

amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the 
statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application. 
 
During the year, the right-of-use of a leasehold land previously recognised within Property, plant 
and equipment which amounted to $46,095,000, was reclassified to ‘right-of-use assets’ under 
SB-FRS 116 at date of initial application. 

 
Consequently, right-of-use assets of $46,349,000 were recognised on April 1, 2019. 
 
 
Standards issued but not effective 
 
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, there are no new/revised SB-FRSs 

and amendments to SB-FRS which were issued but not effective that may have a significant 
impact to the Polytechnic. 

 
  



 
 
 
 

 
NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 

 

16 

2.3 Fund accounting 

 
 Unrestricted Funds 

 
 Funds that are expendable at the discretion of the Polytechnic are accounted for under unrestricted 

funds. 
 
 
 Restricted Funds 

 
 Funds that are set up for specific purposes which may be declared by the donor(s) or created through 

legal process or have specific restriction on the management's discretion regarding the treatment of 

the funds dissolution are accounted for under restricted funds. 
 
 The operating results of both the unrestricted funds and restricted funds maintained by the 

Polytechnic are included in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
Polytechnic. 

 
 Donations from external sources to set up or augment the capital of the endowment funds are taken 

directly to these funds. Income and expenditure of endowment funds are taken directly to restricted 
funds. 

 
 Assets and liabilities of the unrestricted and restricted funds are pooled in the statement of financial 

position. 
 

 
 Trust Funds 

 
 Funds that are held by the Polytechnic as the appointed trustee are accounted for as trust funds. 

The income and expenditure relating to trust funds are accounted for directly in the funds. The net 
assets of the trust funds are disclosed as a separate item in the statement of financial position. 

 

 
 Allocation of income and expenses to funds 

 
 The money from various funds is co-mingled for investment purposes. Investment income and 

expenses are apportioned to the funds based on the investment units held by the fund at the end of 
each month. 

 

 
2.4 Property, plant and equipment 

 
(a) Measurement 

 
 All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recorded at cost. Subsequent to 

recognition, property, plant and equipment other than freehold land and artwork are measured 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. The cost 
includes the cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment and borrowing costs 
that are directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
property, plant and equipment. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset if, and only if, it is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the item will flow to the Polytechnic and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
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  When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced in 
intervals, the Polytechnic recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives 
and depreciation, respectively. Likewise, when a major inspection is performed, its cost is 
recognised in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a replacement if the 
recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in profit 

or loss as incurred. 
 
  Purchases of property, plant and equipment costing less than $5,000 and building renovations 

below $200,000 are charged to profit or loss in the year of purchase. 
 
  The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events 

or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. 

 
  The residual value, useful life and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year-

end, and adjusted prospectively, if appropriate. 
 
  An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future 

economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on derecognition of 
the asset is included in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised. 

 
 
 (b) Depreciation 
 
  Freehold land has an unlimited useful life and therefore are not depreciated. Assets under 

construction are not depreciated as these assets are not yet available for use. 

 
  Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets 

as follows: 
 

Buildings on freehold land 50 years 
Buildings on leasehold land Lower of lease period or 30 years 
Building improvements  5 years 

Furniture, equipment and machinery 3 to 10 years 
 
  Depreciation is provided from the month of acquisition to the month before the disposal of 

assets. 
 
 
2.5 Intangible assets 

 
 Computer software including software development costs are capitalised on the basis of the cost 

incurred to acquire or develop the software for its intended use. 
 
 Computer software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment loss, if any. 

These costs are amortised using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life of 5 years. 

Computer software costing less than $5,000 is charged to profit or loss in the year of purchase. 
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2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets 

 
 The Polytechnic assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an asset may be 

impaired. If any indication exists, or when an annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Polytechnic makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. 

 
 An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair value less 

costs of disposal and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does 
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or group of assets. 
Where the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in 
use, the estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are discounted to their 

present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs of disposal, 
recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such transactions can be 
identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. 

 
 The Polytechnic bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations which 

are prepared separately for each of the Polytechnic’s cash-generating units to which the individual 

assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations are generally covering a period of five 
years. For longer periods, a long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash 
flows after the fifth year. 

 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication exists, 
the Polytechnic estimates the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount. A previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is 
the case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount. That increase 
cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no 

impairment loss been recognised previously. Such reversal is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 
2.7 Consolidation 

 
 The financial statements of the subsidiaries have not been consolidated with the Polytechnic’s 

financial statements as the Polytechnic is of the view that they are not material to the Polytechnic’s 

financial statements. The balances and transactions of the Polytechnic are not affected by the non-
consolidation. 

 
 
2.8 Subsidiaries 

 

 A subsidiary is an investee that is controlled by the Polytechnic. The Polytechnic controls an investee 
when it has power over the investee, is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 
involvement with the investee and has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

 
 Investments in the subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment in net recoverable value that 

has been recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.9 Financial instruments 

 
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when 

the Polytechnic becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.  
 

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than 
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.  

 
 

(a) Financial assets 

 
 Classification of financial assets 
 

Debt instruments mainly comprise cash and cash equivalent, trade and other receivables 
that meet the following conditions and are subsequently measured at amortised cost: 

 
• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial 

assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and 
 

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that 
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
By default, all other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value through profit 

or loss (“FVTPL”). 
 

Despite the foregoing, the Polytechnic may make the following irrevocable 
election/designation at initial recognition of a financial asset: 

 
• the Polytechnic may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an 

equity investment in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and 

 
• the Polytechnic may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised 

cost or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) criteria as measured 
at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch. 

 
 

Amortised cost and effective interest method 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt 
instrument and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. 

 
For financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, 
the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 

(including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding expected credit 
losses, through the expected life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter 
period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt instrument on initial recognition. 
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The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured 
at initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using 
the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity 
amount, adjusted for any loss allowance. On the other hand, the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any loss 

allowance. 
 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments 
measured subsequently at amortised cost and at FVTOCI. For financial instruments other 
than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated 
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset, 
except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial 

assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in 
subsequent reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument 
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is 
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset. 

 

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Polytechnic recognises 
interest income by applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost 
of the financial asset from initial recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross 
basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset subsequently improves so that the financial 
asset is no longer credit-impaired. 

 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL 

 
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI 
are measured at FVTPL. Specifically: 

 
• Investments in equity instruments are classified as at FVTPL, unless the Polytechnic 

designates an equity investment that is neither held for trading nor a contingent 
consideration arising from a business combination as at FVTOCI on initial recognition. 

 
• Debt instruments that do not meet the amortised cost criteria or the FVTOCI criteria are 

classified as at FVTPL. In addition, debt instruments that meet either the amortised cost 
criteria or the FVTOCI criteria may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if 
such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 

inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the 
gains and losses on them on different bases. The Polytechnic has not designated any 
debt instruments as at FVTPL. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value as at each reporting date, with any fair 
value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss to the extent they are not part of a 

designated hedging relationship. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes 
any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is included in the “non-operating 
income” or “non-operating expenses” line item (Notes 27 and 28). Fair value is determined 
in the manner described in Note 4(d)(v). 
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Impairment of financial assets 
 

The Polytechnic recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) on trade and 
other receivables. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each reporting date to 
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument. 

 
The Polytechnic always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables. The expected credit 
losses on these financial assets are estimated based on the Polytechnic’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic 
conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of 
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 

 

For all other financial instruments, the Polytechnic recognises lifetime ECL when there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. If, on the other hand, the 
credit risk on the financial instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Polytechnic measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal 
to 12-month ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on 
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition 
instead of on evidence of a financial asset being credit-impaired at the reporting date or an 

actual default occurring. 
 
 

Significant increase in credit risk 

 
In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly 

since initial recognition, the Polytechnic compares the risk of a default occurring on the 
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the 
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the 
Polytechnic considers historical loss rates for each category of customers and adjusts to 
reflect current and forward-looking macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the 
customers to settle the receivables. 

 

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit 
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition: 

 
• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external  

(if available) or internal credit rating; 
 

• significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk for a particular 

financial instrument;  
 

• existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt 
obligations; 

 

• an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor; 
 

• significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor; 
 

• an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or 
technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the 
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. 
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Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Polytechnic presumes that the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition when 
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the Polytechnic has reasonable 
and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise. 

 

The Polytechnic assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low 
credit risk at the reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk 
if i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a strong capacity 
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in 
economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce 
the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. 

 
The Polytechnic regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure 
that the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount 
becomes past due. 

 
 

Definition of default 

 
The Polytechnic considers that default has occurred when a financial asset is more than  
90 days past due unless the Polytechnic has reasonable and supportable information to 
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 

 

 
Credit-impaired financial assets 

 
A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of that financial have occurred. 

 
 

Write-off policy 

 
 The Polytechnic writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the 

counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, 
e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy 
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under 
the Polytechnic’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. 

Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
 

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses 

 
For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated as the difference between all 

contractual cash flows that are due to the Polytechnic in accordance with the contract and 
all the cash flows that the Polytechnic expects to receive, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. 

 
If the Polytechnic has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECL in the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting 
date that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the Polytechnic measures the 

loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current reporting date. 
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Derecognition of financial assets 

 
The Polytechnic derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Polytechnic neither transfers 

nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Polytechnic recognises its retained interest in the asset and an 
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Polytechnic retains substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Polytechnic 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for 
the proceeds received. 

 

 
(b) Financial liabilities and equity instruments 

 
Classification as debt or equity 

 
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Polytechnic are classified according 
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a 

financial liability and an equity instrument. 
 
 

Equity instruments 
 

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the 

Polytechnic after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

 
 

Financial liabilities 
 

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method or at FVTPL. 
 

However, financial liabilities that arise when a transfer of a financial asset does not qualify 
for derecognition or when the continuing involvement approach applies, and commitments 
issued by the Polytechnic to provide a loan at below-market interest rate are measured in 
accordance with the specific accounting policies set out below. 

 

 
Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost 

 
Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business 
combination, 2) held-for-trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest 
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all fees and 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction 
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or 
(where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability. 
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  Derecognition 

 
  A financial liability is derecognised when its contractual obligation are discharged, cancelled 

or expired. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender 
on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 

modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying 
amounts is recognised in profit or loss. 

 
 

(c) Offsetting arrangements 

 

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the 
statement of financial position when the Polytechnic has a legally enforceable right to set off 
the recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets 
and settle the liability simultaneously. A right to set-off must be available today rather than 
being contingent on a future event and must be exercisable by any of the counterparties, 
both in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy. 

 

 
2.10 Derivative financial instruments 

 
A derivative financial instrument is initially recognised at its fair value on the date the contract is 
entered into and is subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. 
The Polytechnic does not apply hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments 

are recognised in profit or loss in the financial year in which the changes arise. 
 
 
2.11 Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits, and short-term, 

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject 

to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
 
2.12 Provisions 

 
 Provisions are recognised when the Polytechnic has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will 

be required to settle the obligation and the amount of the obligation can be estimated reliably. 
 

  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the current best 
estimate. If it is no longer probable that an outflow of economic resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, the provision is reversed. If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre tax rate that reflects, where appropriate, the risks 

specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to the passage 
of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

 
 
  



 
 
 
 

 
NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 

 

25 

2.13  Leases 
 
 Leases (Before April 1, 2019) 

 
 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 

risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 
 
 
The Polytechnic as lessee 
 
 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern 

in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
 
 The Polytechnic as lessor 
 
 Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 

relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
benefit derived from the leased asset is diminished. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised 
as an expense over the lease term or the same basis as the lease income. 

 
 

Leases (from April 1, 2019) 
 

The Polytechnic as lessee 
 

The Polytechnic assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The 
Polytechnic recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all 
lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a 

lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, the Polytechnic 
recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased assets are consumed. 

 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid 
at the commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be 

readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental borrowing rate specific to the leasee. 
 

The incremental borrowing rate is defined as the rate of interest that the Polytechnic would have to 
pay to borrow over a similar term and with a similar security the funds necessary to obtain an asset 
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
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Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise: 
 

• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives; 

 

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate at the commencement date; 
 

• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; 
 

• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; 

and 

 

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an 

option to terminate the lease. 
 

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 
 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on 
the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect 
the lease payments made. 

 
The Polytechnic remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related 
right-of-use asset) whenever: 

 

• the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting 
in a change in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability 
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate; 

 

• the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment 
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by 

discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease 
payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount 
rate is used); or 

 

• a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, 

in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using 
a revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification. 

 

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease 

payments made at or before the commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any 
initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses. 

 

Whenever the Polytechnic incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, 

restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the 
terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under SB-FRS 37. To the 
extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use 
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. 
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Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the 

underlying asset. If a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-
use asset reflects that the Polytechnic expects to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-
use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease. 

 

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the statement of financial position. 

 
The Polytechnic applies SB-FRS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and 
accounts for any identified impairment loss as described in above. 

 
Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the 

lease liability and the right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments occurs and are included in ‘Other 
expenditure’ in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 
 

The Polytechnic as lessor 
 

The Polytechnic enters into lease agreements as a lessor with respect to its freehold land and building 
facilities. 

 
Leases for which the Polytechnic is a lessor are classified as finance or operating leases. Whenever 
the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee, the 
contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases. 

 
Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added 
to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. 

 
 

2.14 Income recognition 
 

The Polytechnic recognises revenue from the following major sources: 
 

• Rendering of services. 

• Contributions and donations. 

• Interest income. 

• Dividend income. 

• Rental income. 
 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer and excludes 

amounts collected on behalf of third parties. The Polytechnic recognises revenue when it transfers 
control of a product or service to a customer. 
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 Rendering of services 
 

Income from tuition and other services is earned from the provision of tuition services to 
undergraduate or postgraduate students. Income from tuition and other services are recognised as 
a performance obligation is satisfied over time. It includes the provision of course and conference 
fees and clinical and consultancy fees rendered to the students over the academic period. Tuition 
and other related fees are recognised as the courses are rendered and satisfied over time. Payments 
received from students for tuition and other related fees in which the courses have not been rendered 
is recognised as deferred income, under contract liabilities, until the courses have been rendered to 
the students. 

 

 

 Contributions and donations 
 

Contributions from Ngee Ann Kongsi and other donations are recognised at a point in time, when 
received. 

 
 
 Interest income 
 
 Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. 
 
 
 Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised at a point in time when the right to receive payment is established. 
 
 
 Rental income 
 
 Rental income from operating leases on property, plant and equipment is recognised on a straight-

line basis over the lease term. 
 
 
2.15 Employee benefits 
 
 Defined contribution plan 
 
 The Polytechnic contributes to the Central Provident Fund (“CPF”), a defined contribution plan 

regulated and managed by the Government of Singapore, which applies to the majority of the 
employees. The Polytechnic’s contributions to CPF are charged to profit or loss in the period when 
the employees rendered their services. 

 
 
 Employee leave entitlements 
 
 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised as a liability when they accrue to the 

employees. The estimated liability for leave is recognised for services rendered by employees up to 
the end of the reporting period. 

 
 
 Key management personnel 
 
 Key management personnel are those persons having the authority and responsibility for planning, 

directing and controlling the activities of the Polytechnic. Principal, Deputy Principals, Senior 
Directors, Registrar and Directors are considered key management personnel. 
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2.16 Foreign currencies 

 
 Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Singapore 

Dollars at the rate of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Transactions in foreign 
currencies are recorded on initial recognition in Singapore Dollars at exchange rates approximating 

those ruling at the transaction dates. Exchange differences arising from such transactions are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

 
 
2.17 Income tax 

 
 All registered and exempt charities will enjoy automatic income tax exemption. There is, hence, no 

income tax payable by the Polytechnic. 
 
 
2.18 Grants 

 

Grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Polytechnic will comply with 
the conditions attaching to them and the grants will be received. Grants whose primary condition is 
that the Polytechnic should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets (including 
property, plant and equipment and leasehold land) are recognised as deferred income in the 

statement of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis 
over the useful lives of the related assets. 

 
Other grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for 
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Grants that are receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the Polytechnic with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period 
in which they become receivable. 

 
 
3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES 

 OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 
 
 The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with SB-FRS requires the Polytechnic’s 

management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of 
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses at the end 
of each reporting period. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result 
in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability 

affected in the future periods. 
 
 In the process of applying the Polytechnic’s accounting policies, the Polytechnic’s management has 

made the following judgements, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. 

 

 
 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies 
 
 The Polytechnic’s management is of the opinion that there are no applications of judgement expected 

to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. 
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 Key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 
 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are disclosed below. 

 
 
 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 
 
 Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful 

lives. The useful lives of these property, plant and equipment are estimated to be within 3 to 50 
years. The carrying amount of the Polytechnic’s property, plant and equipment as at March 31, 2020 

was $297,346,000 (2018/2019: $369,640,000). Changes in the expected level of usage could impact 
the economic useful lives and the residual values of these assets, therefore future depreciation 
charges could be revised. 

 
 
 Fair value estimation on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 

 As at March 31, 2020, the Polytechnic held quoted bonds that are not traded in an active market 
amounting to $329,534,000 (2018/2019: $383,628,000). The fair value was determined by the 
Polytechnic’s investment custodian based on the evaluated prices provided by various pricing 
vendors who utilise observable market-based data in their proprietary pricing models. 

 
 
4. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 
 

(a) Categories of financial instruments 
 

  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period: 
 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

Financial assets   

   
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 243,639 179,114 
Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value 
   through profit or loss 451,748 505,043 
Derivative instruments not designated in hedge 
   accounting relationships 1,338 515 
   

   
 
Financial liabilities   
   
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 59,665 60,194 
Derivative instruments not designated in hedge 
   accounting relationships 1,710 589 
Lease liabilities 49 - 
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(b) Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and 

similar agreements 

 

  The Polytechnic does not have any financial instruments which are subject to offsetting, 

enforceable master netting arrangements or similar netting agreements. 

 

 

(c) Financial risk management policies and objectives 

 

The Polytechnic’s management monitors and manages the financial risks relating to the 

operations of the Polytechnic to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely 

and effective manner. These risks include market risk (including interest rate risk and 

currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

 

The Polytechnic has written guidelines relating to financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss for fund managers. 

 

The Polytechnic, other than for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss managed 

by its fund managers, does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading 

purposes or to hedge against fluctuations, if any, in interest rates and foreign exchange. 

 
 

 (d) Financial risk factors 

 

(i) Currency risk management 

 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in foreign exchange rates. 

 

The Polytechnic, other than for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

managed by its fund managers, does not engage in any hedging activities. The fund 

managers manage the foreign currency risk arising from anticipated transactions 

denominated in foreign currencies, primarily in United States Dollars. 

 

   At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Polytechnic’s functional 
currency are as follows: 

 Assets Liabilities 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
     
United States 
   Dollars 156,613 182,650 - – 
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10% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to 
key management personnel and represents the Polytechnic’s management’s 
assessment of the reasonably possible changes in foreign exchange rates. The 
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated 
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in 

foreign currency rates. 

If the United States dollar were to weaken/strengthen by 10% against the Singapore 
Dollar, the Polytechnic’s profit or loss for the year will decrease/increase by 
$15,661,000 (2018/2019: decrease/increase by $18,265,000). 

(ii) Interest rate risk management

Interest rate risk is the risk that fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

Surplus funds arising from the Polytechnic’s operations are placed with reputable
banks and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with fund managers.

The Polytechnic’s earnings are affected by changes in interest rates due to the impact
those changes have on its interest income from bank deposits and interest bearing
non-equity investments.

The Polytechnic’s exposure to movements in market interest rates relates primarily
to its floating interest rate financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,

including financial assets at fair value through profit or loss with fund managers. A
100 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to the Polytechnic’s management and represents the Polytechnic’s
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

The carrying values of these assets as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

2019/2020 2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,878 12,634 

With all other variables held constant, a 100 (2018/2019: 100) basis points 
increase/decrease in interest rates will result in a $119,000 (2018/2019: $126,000) 
increase/decrease in the Polytechnic’s profit or loss for the year. 
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(iii) Price risk management

Price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market prices whether those changes are caused by factors specific to 
the individual security or its issuer or factors affecting all securities traded in the 
market. 

The financial assets at fair value through profit or loss that are subject to price risks 
total $451,748,000 (2018/2019: $505,043,000) as disclosed in Note 14. The market 
risk associated with these financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the 
potential loss in fair value resulting from the decrease in market prices of these 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The Polytechnic’s management 
regularly monitors the potential loss in fair value, if any. The Polytechnic’s strategies 
and policies relating to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
determined by its Investment Committee. 10% is the sensitivity rate used when 
reporting market risk internally to the Investment Committee and represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in market risk that the 
Polytechnic is exposed to. 

With all other variables held constant, a 10% (2018/2019: 10%) increase/decrease 
of market values will result in $45,175,000 (2018/2019: $50,504,000) increase/
decrease  in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss.

(iv) Credit risk management

Credit risk is the risk of loss that may arise on outstanding financial instrument 
should a counterparty default on its obligations. 

The Polytechnic has no significant concentration of credit risk. Cash and cash 
equivalents and investments are placed with reputable banks, Accountant-General’s 
Department and fund managers. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk in the event that the counterparties fail to 
perform their obligations as at the end of the reporting period in relation to each 
class of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount of those financial assets 
stated in the statement of financial position. 

The Polytechnic develops and maintains its credit risk gradings to categorise 
exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The Polytechnic uses its own 
trading records to rate its major customers and other debtors. 
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The Polytechnic’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following 
categories: 

 

Category Description Basis for recognising 

expected credit losses 
(ECL) 

Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default 
and does not have any past-due amounts. 

12-month ECL 
 

Doubtful  Amount is >30 days past due or there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk 
since initial recognition. 

Lifetime ECL -  
not credit-impaired 

In default Amount is >90 days past due or there is 

evidence indicating the asset is  
credit-impaired. 

Lifetime ECL -  

credit-impaired 

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor 

is in severe financial difficulty and the 
Polytechnic has no realistic prospect of 
recovery. 

Amount is written off 

 
 

The table below details the credit quality of the Polytechnic’s financial assets as well as 
maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades: 

 

   Note 
Internal 

credit rating 
12-month or 
lifetime ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

      $’000 $’000 $’000 

  2019/2020       

         

  

Amount due from 
   subsidiaries 

10 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

764 – 764 

  

Loan to students  
   and graduates 

11 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

738 – 738 

  

Sundry receivables 
   and deposits 

12 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

32,403 – 32,403 

  

Government grant 
   receivables 

13 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

269 – 269 

                –  
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 Note 
Internal 

credit rating 
12-month or 
lifetime ECL 

Gross 
carrying 
amount 

Loss 
allowance 

Net 
carrying 
amount 

    $’000 $’000 $’000 

2018/2019       
       
Amount due from 

   subsidiaries 

10 Performing 12-month 

ECL 

174 – 174 

Loan to students 
   and graduates 

11 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

800 – 800 

Sundry receivables 

   and deposits 

12 Performing 12-month 

ECL 

31,033 – 31,033 

Government grant 
   receivables 

13 Performing 12-month 
ECL 

736 – 736 

            –  

       
 
 

(v) Fair value of financial instruments that are carried at fair value 

 

The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value 

by the different levels of the fair value hierarchy: 

 

2019/2020 

 

Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
instruments 

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs Total 

 (Level 1) (Level 2)  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Financial assets:    
Financial assets at fair value 
   through profit or loss (Note 14)    

- Common stock 92,894 - 92,894 
- Stapled securities 1,254 - 1,254 
- Exchange traded funds 17,441 - 17,441 
- Preferred stock 20 - 20 
- Unit trust equities - 420 420 
- Hedge Fund 5,169 - 5,169 
- Mutual funds - 1,309 1,309 
- Others 3,707 - 3,707 
- Corporate bonds - 183,148 183,148 
- Corporate convertible bonds - 1,718 1,718 
- Government agency bonds - 17,665 17,665 
- Government bonds - 93,105 93,105 
- Other fixed income - 18,022 18,022 
- Unit trust bonds - 15,876 15,876 

    
    
Total financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (Note 14) 120,485 331,263 451,748 
Derivative financial instruments 

(Note 15)    
- Forward currency contracts - 1,338 1,338 

    
    
At March 31, 2020 120,485 332,601 453,086 
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Quoted prices in 
active markets 

for identical 
instruments 

Significant 
other 

observable 
inputs Total 

 (Level 1) (Level 2)  
 $’000 $’000 $’000 
Financial liabilities:    
Derivative financial instruments 

(Note 15)    
- Forward currency contracts - (1,710) (1,710) 

    
    
At March 31, 2020 - (1,710) (1,710) 
    
    
    

 

2018/2019 
    

Financial assets:    
Financial assets at fair value 
   through profit or loss (Note 14)    

- Common stock 81,453 – 81,453 
- Stapled securities 1,371 – 1,371 
- Exchange traded funds 24,158 – 24,158 
- Preferred stock 974 – 974 
- Unit trust equities 3,798 – 3,798 
- Hedge Fund 4,691 – 4,691 
- Mutual funds 2,620 – 2,620 
- Others 2,350 – 2,350 
- Corporate bonds – 218,255 218,255 

- Corporate convertible bonds – 1,764 1,764 
- Government agency bonds – 36,396 36,396 
- Government bonds – 98,417 98,417 
- Other fixed income – 13,080 13,080 
- Unit trust bonds – 15,716 15,716 

    
    
Total financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss (Note 14) 121,415 383,628 505,043 
Derivative financial instruments 

(Note 15)    
- Forward currency contracts – 515 515 

    
    
At March 31, 2019 121,415 384,143 505,558 
    
    
    
Financial liabilities:    
Derivative financial instruments 

(Note 15)    
- Forward currency contracts – (589) (589) 

    
    
At March 31, 2019 – (589) (589) 
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Determination of fair values 
 

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. 

 

The fair values of quoted securities, if traded in active markets such as over-the-
counter securities, are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting 
period. The fair values of other unquoted securities that are not traded in active 
markets are determined by the Polytechnic’s investment custodian based on the 
evaluated prices provided by various pricing vendors who utilise observable market-
based data in their proprietary pricing models. Derivative financial instruments are 
valued using widely accepted pricing models, with market observable inputs 

including volatilities, yield curves, foreign exchange spot and forward rates. 
 
 

a) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at 
fair value and whose carrying amounts are reasonable approximation 
of fair value 

 

Sundry receivables and deposits, Amounts due from subsidiaries, Government 

grants receivables, Fixed deposits, Cash and bank balances, Payables and 

accruals and Advances for student loans 

 
The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are reasonable 
approximation of fair values, either due to their short term nature or that they 

are floating rate instruments that are re-priced to market interest rates on or 
near the end of the reporting period. 

 
Loans to students, Advances for student loans and Amounts due from 

subsidiaries (non-current) 

 
The carrying amounts of these financial assets and liabilities are not materially 

different from the fair values determined using discounted estimated cash 
flows. 

 
 

b) Fair value of financial instruments by classes that are not carried at 
fair value and whose carrying amounts are not reasonable 
approximation of fair value 

 
There are no financial instruments that are not carried at fair value and whose 
carrying amounts do not approximate fair value. 
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(vi) Liquidity risk management 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Polytechnic will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations due to shortage of funds. 

 

The Polytechnic maintains an adequate level of highly liquid assets in the form of cash and short-term bank deposits. 

 
 

Analysis of financial instruments by remaining contractual maturities 

 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Polytechnic’s financial assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period 

based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. 
 

 

2019/2020 

$’000  

2018/2019 

$’000 
    
    

 
One year  
or less  

One to five 
years Total  

One year  
or less  

One to five 
years Total 

        
Financial assets:        
        
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 243,487 152 243,639  178,745 369 179,114 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 451,748 – 451,748  505,043 – 505,043 
Derivative instruments not designated in hedge 

accounting relationships 1,338 – 1,338  515 – 515 
        
        
Total undiscounted financial assets 696,573 152 696,725  684,303 369 684,672 
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2019/2020 

$’000  

2018/2019 

$’000 
    
    

 
One year  
or less  

One to five 
years Total  

One year  
or less  

One to five 
years Total 

        

Financial liabilities:        
        
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 58,743 922 59,665  60,194 – 60,194 
Derivative instruments not designated in hedge  

accounting relationships 1,710 – 1,710  589 – 589 
Lease liabilities 40 9 49  – – – 
        
        
Total undiscounted financial liabilities 60,493 931 61,424  60,783 – 60,783 
        
        
        
Total net undiscounted financial assets (liabilities) 636,080 (779) 635,301  623,520 369 623,889 
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(vii) Amounts under fund management 

 

The carrying amounts of funds under fund management by professional managers 

and held in trust by a custodian can be analysed as follows: 

 

 Note 2019/2020 2018/2019 

  $'000 $'000 

    

Receivables from brokers  12 2,880 297 

Financial assets at fair value through 

   profit or loss 14 429,458 480,904 

Derivative financial instruments, net  15 (372) (74) 

Fixed deposits  16 12,302 3,901 

Cash and bank balances 17 103,953 79,641 

Payables to brokers  18 (5,272) (4,248) 
 
 

  542,949 560,421 
 

    

    

 (e) Capital management policies and objectives 
 

The Polytechnic’s main objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Polytechnic’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. The Polytechnic considers the future capital requirements, 
prevailing and projected operating cash flows, projected capital expenditure and projected 

strategic investment opportunities as part of its capital management process. 
 

The capital structure of the Polytechnic comprises only accumulated surplus and endowment 
funds. The Polytechnic is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements. The 
Polytechnic’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. 

 
 

5. UNRESTRICTED FUNDS 
 
 The unrestricted funds of $395,202,000 (2018/2019: $397,408,000) include $37,751,000 

(2018/2019: $36,886,000) of Ngee Ann Polytechnic - Education Fund, $1,848,000  
(2018/2019: $1,748,000) of sinking funds and $30,352,000 (2018/2019: $30,258,000) of 
scholarship and bursary funds. 
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Freehold land 
Leasehold land and 

buildings * 
Building 

improvements 
Furniture, equipment 

and machinery Work-in-progress Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Cost: 
At April 1, 2018 40,700 435,140 189,202 151,483 25,916 842,441 
Additions − 713 4,296 5,249 9,500 19,758 
Reclassification − − 20,041 13,166 (33,207) − 
Transfer to intangible assets (Note 8) − − − − (529) (529) 
Disposals − − (19) (12,906) − (12,925) 

 At March 31, 2019 40,700 435,853 213,520 156,992 1,680 848,745 
Adoption of SB-FRS 116 (Note 2.2) - (57,549) − − − (57,549) 

 At April 1, 2019 40,700 378,304 213,520 156,992 1,680 791,196 
Additions − − − 5,468 7,744 13,212 
Reclassification − − 1,040 1,946 (2,986) − 
Transfer to intangible assets (Note 8) − − − − (117) (117) 

Disposals − (2,613) (1,612) (8,975) − (13,200) 

 At March 31, 2020 40,700 375,691 212,948 155,431 6,321 791,091 

 Accumulated depreciation: 
At April 1, 2018 − 184,069 142,837 121,974 − 448,880 
Depreciation for the year − 8,606 21,476 13,026 − 43,108 
Disposals − − (19) (12,864) − (12,883) 

At March 31, 2019 – 192,675 164,294 122,136 − 479,105 

Adoption of SB-FRS 116 (Note 2.2) − (11,454) − − − (11,454) 

 At April 1, 2019 − 181,221 164,294 122,136 − 467,651 
Depreciation for the year − 6,626 20,263 11,702 − 38,591 
Disposals − (2,081) (1,544) (8,872) − (12,497) 

At March 31, 2020 − 185,766 183,013 124,966 − 493,745 

 Carrying amount: 
At March 31, 2020 40,700 189,925 29,935 30,465 6,321 297,346 

At March 31, 2019 40,700 243,178 49,226 34,856 1,680 369,640 

* Buildings comprise buildings on freehold and leasehold land with carrying amounts of $187,698,000 and $2,227,000 (2018/2019: $194,775,000
and $2,308,000) respectively.
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In previous years, a plot of freehold land was donated by Ngee Ann Kongsi to the Polytechnic which 

in turn surrendered the land to the Government of Singapore. In return, a fresh statutory land grant 

was issued by the Government to Ngee Ann Polytechnic on January 26, 1984. This freehold land was 

valued at $24,700,000 by an independent valuer on an open-market basis as at July 25, 1987. 

Another plot of freehold land was also donated by Ngee Ann Kongsi to the Polytechnic in prior years. 

This freehold land was valued at $16,000,000 by an independent valuer on an open-market basis as 

at March 24, 2014. 

7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

The Polytechnic leases certain leasehold land, office premises, furniture, fittings and equipment. 

The lease term ranges from 2 to 5 years for furniture, fittings and equipment. The lease terms are 

3 years and 99 years for office premises and leasehold land respectively.

Leasehold land Office premises 

Furniture, fittings 

and equipment Total 

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost: 

At April 1, 2019 and 

 March 31, 2020 57,549 197 57 57,803 

Accumulated depreciation: 

At April 1, 2019 11,454 - - 
11,454 

Depreciation charge 1,918 169 36 2,123 

At March 31, 2020 13,372 169 36 13,577 

Carrying amount: 

At March 31, 2020 44,177 28 21 44,226 

At April 1, 2019 46,095 197 57 46,349 
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8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2019/2020 2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 
Computer software 

Cost: 

At April 1 24,007 23,334 
Additions 278 317 
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 6) 117 529 

Disposals (238) (173)

At March 31 24,164 24,007 

Accumulated amortisation: 

At April 1 22,398 20,928 

Amortisation for the year 770 1,643 

Disposals (194) (173)

At March 31 22,974 22,398 

Carrying amount: 

At March 31 1,190 1,609 
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9. SUBSIDIARIES 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Unquoted equity shares, at cost 475 475 
   
   

 
 

 Name of subsidiary Principal activities 

Country of 

incorporation/ 

place of 

business 

Proportion of ownership 

interest and voting 

power held 

    2019/2020 2018/2019 

    % % 

 
Held by the 

Polytechnic 

    

 NP Enterprise (S) Pte 

Ltd 

Investment holding company 

in the areas of educational 

and consultancy services. 

Singapore 100 100 

  

Held through NP 

Enterprise (S) Pte 

Ltd 

    

      

 Ngee Ann Polytechnic 
Global Pte Ltd  

Provision of consultancy, 
training and global 
educational services 
 

Singapore 100 100 

      

 Social Lab Ltd 1 Manage and operate social 
enterprises with the aim of 
raising awareness among the 
general public, especially 
students, on the physically 
handicapped segments of the 
Singapore population. 

Singapore - 100 

 
 

1  The company was incorporated as a company limited by guarantee in prior years and has been 
struck off from the ACRA register on August 6, 2019. 

 
The financial statements of the subsidiaries have not been consolidated with the Polytechnic’s 

financial statements as the Polytechnic is of the view that the subsidiaries’ financial statements are 
not material to the Polytechnic’s financial statements. The balances and transactions of the 

Polytechnic are not affected by the non-consolidation. 

 
The Polytechnic is the sole member of the School of Science and Technology, Singapore, (“SST”) a 

company limited by guarantee. The principal activities of SST is to provide a holistic and balanced 

secondary school education with a focus on applied learning, innovation and entrepreneurship in 
science and technology. Upon the winding up or dissolution of SST, all its assets and liabilities shall 

not be paid or distributed among its members, but shall be dealt in accordance with Articles of 

Association of SST and the Charities Act (Chapter 37), and shall be given or transferred to other 
institutions registered under Charities Act (Chapter 37). As the Polytechnic does not have the ability 

to exercise control over SST and does not have rights to variable returns from its involvement with 

SST, SST is not accounted for as a subsidiary of the Polytechnic. 
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10. AMOUNTS DUE FROM SUBSIDIARIES 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   

Amounts due from subsidiaries (non-trade) 764 174 
   
   
   

 
The amounts due from subsidiaries include payments made on behalf of the Polytechnic’s 
subsidiaries and a loan of $500,000 (2018/2019: NIL) granted to Ngee Ann Polytechnic Global Pte 
Ltd. The payments made on behalf are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand. The 
loan bears interest of 3.79% (2018/2019: NIL) per annum and is repayable by February 12, 2021. 

 

For the purpose of impairment assessment, amounts due from subsidiaries are considered to have 
low credit risk as they are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been 
no significant increase in the risk of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, 
for the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at 
an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (ECL). 

 
In determining the ECL, the Polytechnic has taken into account the historical default experience and 

the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, in 
estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring within their respective 
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case. 

 
Accordingly, the Polytechnic believes that there is no loss allowance required. 

 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 

current reporting period. 
 
 
11. LOANS TO STUDENTS AND GRADUATES 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Overseas student programs loans 16 25 
Study loans 71 120 
Computer loans 651 655 
   
   
 738 800 
   
   
   

Represented by:   

   Amounts receivable within one year 586 431 
   Amounts receivable after one year 152 369 
   
   
 738 800 
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Overseas student programs loans, study loans and computer loans are unsecured, interest-free during 
the course of study and are repayable by monthly instalments over periods ranging from 2 to 10 years 
after the borrowers’ graduation. Interest is charged based on the average of the prevailing prime rates 
of the 3 local banks. The interest rate for these loans at the end of the reporting period is 5.25% 
(2018/2019: 4.75%) per annum. 

 
For the purpose of impairment assessment, loans to students and graduates are considered to have 

low credit risk as they are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been 
no significant increase in the risk of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for 
the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (ECL). 

 
In determining the ECL, the Polytechnic has taken into account the historical default experience and 
the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, in 

estimating the probability of default of each of these financial assets occurring within their respective 
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case. 

 
Accordingly, the Polytechnic believes that there is no loss allowance required. 

 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 

current reporting period. 
 
 
12. SUNDRY RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

   
Accrued dividends 233 290 
Accrued interest  2,916 3,321 
Sundry receivables 6,433 4,327 
Student receivables 136 12 
Non-student receivables 738 1,003 

Grant receivables 19,067 21,783 
Receivables from brokers [Note 4(d)(vii)] 2,880 297 
      

 32,403 31,033 
   
   

 
 Grant receivables relate to amounts granted to the Polytechnic from government agencies, other than 

MOE, on a reimbursement basis to fund the Polytechnic’s activities. Such grant income is set off against 
expenses in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

 

For the purpose of impairment assessment, sundry receivables and deposits are considered to have 
low credit risk as they are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been 
no significant increase in the risk of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for 
the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (ECL). 
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In determining the ECL, the Polytechnic has taken into account the historical default experience and 
the financial position of the counterparties, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and 
general economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate, in estimating the probability 
of default of each of these financial assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time 
horizon, as well as the loss upon default in each case. 

 
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 

current reporting period. 
 
 

13. GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVABLES 

 

 These are grants from the government to finance the operations of the Polytechnic. 

 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Balance at April 1 736 284 

Grants received from Government (165,278) (195,402) 

Grants utilised and taken to profit or loss (Note 29) 164,297 194,432 

Others 514 1,422 
   
   
Balance at March 31 269 736 
   
   
   
 

For the purpose of impairment assessment, government grants receivables are considered to have low 
credit risk as they are not due for payment at the end of the reporting period and there has been no 
significant increase in the risk of default on the receivables since initial recognition. Accordingly, for 
the purpose of impairment assessment for these receivables, the loss allowance is measured at an 
amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses (ECL). 
 
In determining the ECL, the Polytechnic has taken into account the historical default experience and 

the financial position of the government, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtor and general 
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtor operates, in estimating the probability of 
default of each of these financial assets occurring within their respective loss assessment time horizon, 
as well as the loss upon default in each case. 
 
Accordingly, the Polytechnic believes that there is no loss allowance required. 
 

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the 
current reporting period. 
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14. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 451,748 505,043 
   
   
   

Managed by fund managers [Note 4(d)(vii)] 429,458 480,904 
Managed internally 22,290 24,139 
   
   
 451,748 505,043 
   
   
   

 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss comprise: 

 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

Bonds   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss managed by 

fund managers   

- Corporate bonds 181,903 214,523 

- Corporate convertible bonds 1,718 1,764 

- Government agency bonds 17,665 36,396 

- Government bonds 93,105 98,417 

- Other fixed income 18,022 13,080 
   
   
 312,413 364,180 
   
   
   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss managed 

internally   

- Corporate bonds 1,245 3,732 

- Unit trust bonds 15,876 15,716 
   
   
 17,121 19,448 
   
   
Total for Bonds 329,534 383,628 
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Quoted equity investments   

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss managed by 

fund managers   

- Common stock 92,894 81,453 

- Stapled securities 1,254 1,371 

- Exchange traded funds 17,441 24,158 

- Preferred stock 20 974 

- Unit trust equities 420 3,798 

- Mutual funds 1,309 2,620 

- Others 3,707 2,350 
  
  

 117,045 116,724 
  
  

   
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss managed 

internally   

- Hedge fund 5,169 4,691 
   
   
Total for Equity 122,214 121,415 
   
   
Total financial assets at fair value through 

   profit or loss 451,748 505,043 
   

 
 

 (i) The bonds bear average interest rates of 3.69% (2018/2019: 3.88%) per annum. The 
maturity dates of bonds range from April 1, 2020 to July 22, 2068 (2018/2019: April 1, 2019 

to December 31, 2050). 
 

(ii) Investments managed by fund managers are administered by 8 (2018/2019: 6) asset 
management companies (“fund managers”). The fund managers are given discretionary 
powers within certain guidelines to invest the funds. The terms of the fund management 
agreements will expire between January 2021 and January 2023 (2018/2019: January 2020 
and January 2022). 

 
 

15. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

 

Contract/ 

notional 

amount Assets Liabilities 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 

March 31, 2020    

Forward currency contracts 158,490 1,338 (1,710) 
    
    
    

March 31, 2019    

Forward currency contracts 279,343 515 (589) 
    
    

 

 
The forward currency contracts are used in the currency hedging programs which aim to reduce the 
foreign currency risks of the investment portfolio. The Polytechnic does not apply hedge accounting. 

  



 
 
 
 
 

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 

50 

16. FIXED DEPOSITS 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Managed by fund managers [Note 4(d)(vii)] 12,302 3,901 

Managed internally 24,763 1,744 
   
   
 37,065 5,645 
   
   
   

 

Included in fixed deposits managed internally is an amount of $NIL (2018/2019: $29,000) set aside 
to fund the normal operating expenditure of the Polytechnic. 

 
The fixed deposits managed by fund managers form part of the funds placed with fund managers 

and are the remaining balance of the total funds not invested by the fund managers in the other 
asset classes permitted under the investment guidelines. 

 
In 2019/2020, the fixed deposits bear interest rates ranging from 0.15% to 1.10% per annum 
(2018/2019: 0.10% to 1.65% per annum). The maturity dates range from April 1, 2002 to June 3, 
2020 (2018/2019: April 1, 2019 to April 29, 2019). 

 
 

17. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Cash managed by fund managers (Note 4(d)(vii)) 103,953 79,641 

Cash with Accountant-General's Department 68,447 61,085 
   
   
Cash and bank balances 172,400 140,726 
   
   

 
 

On November 2, 2009, the Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) issued a circular 4/2009 to 
set out the arrangements to centrally manage the cash of all Statutory Boards and Ministries under 
the Centralised Liquidity Management (CLM) scheme. This scheme involves placing funds directly 

with AGD and would allow for better credit risk management by the government. Under this scheme, 
the Polytechnic’s cash at bank in excess of a certain limit are transferred to the AGD. Cash placed 
with AGD is interest-bearing. Interest is computed on the basis as set out in the Accountant-
General’s Department Circular No. 4/2009. The interest rate for cash placed with AGD at the 
reporting date is 1.93% (2018/2019: 1.76%) per annum. 
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18. PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Accruals 24,840 24,829 
Accrued capital expenditure 2,739 3,590 
CPF payable 11,850 12,090 

Refundable deposits 928 996 
Accrual for unconsumed leave 8,587 8,433 
Sundry payables 5,449 6,008 
Payables to brokers [Note 4(d)(vii)] 5,272 4,248 
Government grants received in advance  3,998 4,110 
Grants received in advance 1,624 - 
   
   
 65,287 64,304 
   
   

 

 

Grants received in advance represent amounts received by the Polytechnic from government 

agencies other than MOE. 

 
Represented by:   
   

Amounts payable within one year 64,374 61,706 
Amounts payable after one year 913 2,598 
   
   
 65,287 64,304 
   

 

 

Government grants received in advance 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Balance at April 1 4,110 6,563 

Grants received from (refunded to) Government 1,428 (247) 

Development grants utilised and transferred to deferred 

   capital grants (Note 21) (220) (275) 

Grants utilised and taken to profit or loss (Note 29)(a)  (1,320) (1,845) 

Others  - (86) 

      Balance as at March 31 3,998 4,110 

   
    
(a) This represents property, plant and equipment expensed off and project staff expenses funded 

by MOE. 
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19. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 
 $'000 $'000 
   
Student fees received in advance  3,613 3,217 
Service fees received in advance (Note 23)(a) 13,789 14,361 
      
 17,402 17,578 
      
Represented by:   
   

Amounts payable within one year 4,185 3,789 
Amounts payable after one year 13,217 13,789 
       17,402 17,578 
    

 
(a)  Fees received in advance from Singapore Institute of Technology (“SIT”) for the usage of the 

Polytechnic's facilities by SIT students will be amortised over a 30-year period commencing 
from May 9, 2014 in accordance with the service agreement between the Polytechnic and SIT. 

 
The Polytechnic’s revenue recognised that was included in the contract liability balance at the 
beginning of the period: 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

Student fees received in advance  3,217 3,771 
Service fees received in advance (Note 23) 572 572 
      
 3,789 4,343 
   

 

 

20 LEASE LIABILITIES 
 2019/2020 

 $’000 

Maturity analysis  

  
Year 1 41 

Year 2 10 

     51 

Less: unearned interest (2) 

    
 49 

   
Analysed as:  
   Current 40 
   Non-current 9 
  Total 49 

 

 
The Polytechnic does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease 
liabilities are monitored within the Polytechnic’s finance function. 
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21. DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS 

 

 Government  Non-Government  Total 

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
       
Balance at April 1 294,261 318,429 7,433 8,343 301,694 326,772 
        
Grants recognised as deferred 
   income:        
        
Grants received from MOE 22,495 22,915 − − 22,495 22,915 
Donated assets − − 6 61 6 61 
Transfer from government grants 
   received in advance (Note 18) 220 275 − − 220 275 
Transfer from other grants − − 347 243 347 243 
        
        
 316,976 341,619 7,786 8,647 324,762 350,266 
Grants taken to profit or loss:        
        
Purchase of non-capitalised 
   assets using IT and F&E grants 
   (Note 29) (10,767) (12,704) − − (10,767) (12,704) 
Amortisation of deferred capital 
   grants (31,340) (34,654) (1,317) (1,214) (32,657) (35,868) 
        
        
 (42,107) (47,358) (1,317) (1,214) (43,424) (48,572) 
        
        
Balance at March 31 274,869 294,261 6,469 7,433 281,338 301,694 
        
        
Represented by:        

        
Grants utilised 231,175 253,846 6,469 7,433 237,644 261,279 
Grants unutilised 43,694 40,415 − − 43,694 40,415 
        
        
 274,869 294,261 6,469 7,433 281,338 301,694 
        
        

 

 

In 2006/2007, the Ministry of Education (MOE) revised the funding framework for Information 

Technology (IT) and Furniture and Equipment (F&E) grants. Under the revised framework, the grants 

are now given outright to the Polytechnic for its discretion to spend on the purchase of IT and F&E 

assets. Surpluses (if any) can be retained by the Polytechnic for its future purchases of IT and F&E 

assets. 
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Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities 
 

The table below details changes in the Polytechnic’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising 

from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Polytechnic’s statement of cash flows as cash 

flows from financing activities. 

 
     Non cash changes   

 

March 31, 

2019 

 

Adoption of 

SB-FRS 116 

(Note 2.2) 

April 1, 

2019 

Financing 

cash flows (i) 

Government 

grants 

utilised  

(Note 29) 

 

 

Grants 

utilised 

Transfer of 

funds 

Amortisation 

of deferred 

capital grant  

(Note 21) 

Other 

changes (ii) 

March 31, 

2020 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

           

Grants receivables 

   (Note 12)  21,783 − 21,783 (14,922) − 11,771 − − 435 19,067 

Government grants 

   receivables (Note 13) 736 − 736 (165,278) 164,297 − − − 514 269 

Government grants  

   received in advance  

   (Note 18) (4,110) − (4,110) (1,208) 1,320 − − − − (3,998) 

Grants received in  

   advance (Note 18) − − − (12,110) − 10,089 − − 397 (1,624) 

Lease liabilities  

   (Note 20) − (254) (254) 213 − − − − (8) (49) 

Deferred capital grants 

   (Note 21) (301,694) − (301,694) (567) 10,767 − − 32,657 (22,501) (281,338) 

Unrestricted fund  

   (Note 5) (397,408) − (397,408) (981) − − (5,796) − 8,983 (395,202) 

Restricted fund  

   (Note 32) (275,091) − (275,091) (247) − − 5,796 −- (9,668) (279,210) 
           
           
 (955,784) (254) (956,038) (195,100) 176,384 21,860 - 32,657 (21,848) (942,085) 
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   Non cash changes   

 April 1, 2018 

Financing cash 

flows (i) 

Government 

grants utilised 

(Note 29) 

 

 

Grants utilised 

Transfer of 

funds 

Amortisation of 

deferred capital 

grant (Note 21) 

Other 

changes (ii) 

March 31, 

2019 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

         

Grants receivables (Note 12) 13,250 (14,553) − 23,086 − − − 21,783 

Government grants 

   receivables (Note 13) 284 (195,402) 

 

194,432 

 

− − − 1,422 736 

Government grants received 

   in advance (Note 18) (6,563) 522 

 

1,845 

 

− − − 86 (4,110) 

Deferred capital grants  

   (Note 21) (326,772) (518) 

 

12,704 

 

− − 35,868 (22,976) (301,694) 

Unrestricted fund (Note 5) (398,471) (891) − − (4,932) − 6,886 (397,408) 

Restricted fund (Note 32) (270,180) (98) − − 4,932 − (9,745) (275,091) 
         
         
 (988,452) (210,940) 208,981 23,086 - 35,868 (24,327) (955,784) 
         
         

 

(i) The cash flows are made up of MOE matching grants, operating grants and capital grants received in the statement of cash flows. 
 

(ii) Other changes include grant accruals, reclassifications between grants and other operating cash flows. 
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22. TRUST FUNDS 
 
 Trust funds includes: 
 

(i) Liu Yin Soon Scholarship Trust Fund  
 

The Liu Yin Soon Scholarship Trust Fund (Registration No.: 0657) was registered as a charity 

under the Charities Act (Cap. 37) on May 27, 1989. The trustee of the fund is Ngee Ann 
Polytechnic. The objective of the fund is to award scholarships to students of the Polytechnic, 
who in the view of the trustee of the fund, have excelled in their performance. 

 
There are no fund-raising activities for Liu Yin Soon Scholarship Trust Fund during the year. 

 
The capital sum in the Liu Yin Soon Scholarship Trust Fund was from the sale proceeds of 

two pieces of bequeathed properties. 
 
 

(ii) Ngee Ann Polytechnic Students’ Union Trust Fund 
 

The Ngee Ann Polytechnic Students’ Union Trust Fund comprises monies held in trust by the 

Polytechnic for the students’ union. 
 
 

(iii) Tuition Fee, Study and Overseas Student Programme Loans held on behalf of the Ministry of 
Education (“MOE”) 

 
The Tuition Fee, Study and Overseas Student Programme Loans are managed on behalf of 

the Ministry of Education (“MOE”). The Funds are set up via advances from the MOE for the 
purpose of providing those loans to students. 

 
The loans are interest-free and unsecured during the course of study. They are repayable by 
monthly instalments for a period of up to 10 years after the borrowers' graduation.  Interest 
is charged based on the prevailing prime rates of the 3 local banks. The interest rate at the 
end of the reporting period for those loans are 4.75% (FY18/19: 4.75%) per annum. 

Repayments (including interests) received from the borrowers will need to be refunded to 
MOE. 

 
 

(iv) Opportunity Fund held on behalf of MOE 
 

Opportunity Fund is set up by MOE to provide financial assistance for student overseas trips 
and purchase of computer devices to meet learning needs. The Polytechnic tap on the Fund 
to subsidise needy students' overseas trips. The Fund is disbursed in advance by MOE and 
any unutilised balance will be offset against subsequent disbursement from MOE. 
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   Funds held on behalf of MOE  

 Liu Yin Soon Scholarship Ngee Ann Polytechic Students’ Union 
Trust 

Tuition fee loan, Study Loan and 
Overseas Student Programme Loan Opportunity Fund Total 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

           
Trust Funds (capital)           

Balance at April 1 2,280 2,280 2,587 2,587 4,343 4,599 735 409 9,945 9,875 

Received during the year − − − − 788 878 263 1,068 1,051 1,946 

Refunded during the year − − − − (940) (1,116) − (57) (940) (1,173) 

Write-off during the year − − − − (18) (18) − − (18) (18) 

Utilised during the year − − − − − − (267) (685) (267) (685) 
           
Balance at March 31 2,280 2,280 2,587 2,587 4,173 4,343 731 735 9,771 9,945 
           

           
Accumulated surplus           

Balance at April 1 661 675 271 299 − − − − 932 974 

Surplus for the year (30) (14) (63) (28) − − − − (93) (42) 
           
           
Balance at March 31 631 661 208 271 − − − − 839 932 
           
           
Total funds as at March 31 2,911 2,941 2,795 2,858 4,173 4,343 731 735 10,610 10,877 
           
           
Income           

Interest income 46 46 50 49 − − − − 96 95 

Dividend income 14 16 15 17 − − − − 29 33 
Other income 45 30 17 − − − 267 685 329 715 
           

           
 105 92 82 66 − − 267 685 454 843 

                      
Less: Expenditure           

Disbursement of 
   scholarship awards 59 75 80 80 − − − − 139 155 

Depreciation 11 11 − − − − − − 11 11 

Other expenditure 65 20 65 14 − − 267 685 397 719 
           
           
 135 106 145 94 − − 267 685 547 885 
           
           
(Deficit) Surplus for the  (30) (14) (63) (28) − − − − (93) (42) 

year           
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     Funds held on behalf of MOE   

 

Liu Yin Soon Scholarship 
Ngee Ann Polytechic Students’ 

Union Trust 
Tuition fee loan, Study Loan and 

Overseas Student Programme Loan Opportunity Fund Total 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

           
Represented by:           

           

Right-of-use assets (Note 7) 269 280 − − − − − − 269 280 

Sundry receivables and deposits 22 13 27 26 92 85 − − 141 124 
Financial assets at fair value through profit 

or loss 2,078 2,323 2,245 2,510 − − − − 4,323 4,833 

Fixed deposits 170 26 184 28 − − − − 354 54 

Cash and bank balances 394 322 339 294 71 125 731 735 1,535 1,476 

Payables (22) (23) − − (80) (84) − − (102) (82) 
Loan to student − − − − 4,090 4,217 − − 4,090 4,192 
           
           
Net assets as at March 31 2,911 2,941 2,795 2,858 4,173 4,343 731 735 10,610 10,877 
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23. OTHER INCOME 
 

Included in other income are: 
 

 Unrestricted Funds  Restricted Funds  Total 

 2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 
       
Rental income 4,838 4,607 − − 4,838 4,607 
Service fee income 18,930 9,997 − − 18,930 9,997 
Donations, grants and 

sponsorships 22,522 23,495 3,590 3,553 26,112 27,048  
       
       

 
 

24. STAFF COSTS 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Key management personnel:   

   - Salaries and related costs 8,976 9,848 
   - CPF contributions and SDF Levy 638 642 

 9,614 10,490 
Other than key management personnel:   

   - Salaries and related costs 183,952 201,693 
   - CPF contributions and SDF levy 23,938 25,594 

 207,890 227,287 
   
   
 217,504 237,777 
   
   

 

 
25. STUDENT DEVELOPMENT, ACTIVITIES AND WELFARE 
 

This item includes the cost of overseas trips for students who took part in the Polytechnic’s overseas 
student development programmes. 
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26. OTHER EXPENDITURE

Included in other expenditure are:

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 

2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Consultancy fees 744 315 − − 744 315 
Gebiz fees 243 295 − − 243 295 
Guard services 1,131 1,086 − − 1,131 1,086 
Professional and management 
 expenses 3,437 3,312 − 271 3,437 3,583 

Printing and stationery 398 549 − − 398 549 
Rental of staff apartments − 588 − − − 588 

27. NON-OPERATING INCOME

Included in non-operating income are:

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 

2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Interest income 6,401 6,170 4,707 4,596 11,108 10,766 
Dividend income 1,625 1,772 1,414 1,565 3,039 3,337 
Gain on foreign exchange 1,761 − 1,563 − 3,324 − 
Gain on disposal of property, 

plant and equipment and 
intangible assets − 61 − − − 61 

Fair value gain on financial 
assets at fair value through 
profit or loss and derivatives − 44 − − − 44 

28. NON-OPERATING EXPENSES

Included in non-operating expenses are:

Unrestricted Funds Restricted Funds Total 

2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019  2019/2020  2018/2019 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Fund management expenses 739 746 643 657 1,382 1,403 
Loss on foreign exchange − 138 − 101 − 239 
Loss on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment and 
 intangible assets 575 − − − 575 − 

Fair value loss on financial 
 assets at fair value through 
 profit or loss and derivatives 5,750 − 5,317 − 11,067 −
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29. OPERATING GRANTS FROM GOVERNMENT 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
   
Operating grants (Notes 13 and 18) 165,617 196,227 
Transferred from deferred capital grants (Note 21) 10,767 12,704 
   
   
 176,384 208,931 
   
   
   

 
 
30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

Some of the Polytechnic’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of 
these on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. 
The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated. 

 
Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the Polytechnic entered into the following 
significant transactions with its parent Ministry, MOE, and other related parties during the financial 
year: 

 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 
MOE   
Operating grants 186,753 215,509 
Development grants  214 
Information technology and furniture and equipment grants 22,495 22,915 
Other grants 2,764 1,806 
Matching grants 1,276 834 

   
   

 
Other ministries and Statutory boards   
Grants 26,699 14,628 
   
   

 
Subsidiaries   
Admission and workshop fee income 3 3 
Administrative support and trainers fee income 266 56 

Rental income 51 69 
Interest income 16 - 
Placement fee expense 132 - 

   
   
   

 

School of Science and Technology, Singapore   
Admission and workshop fee income 1 1 

   
   
   

 
 
  



 
 
 
 
 

NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC 
 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
March 31, 2020 
 
 
 

62 

31. COMMITMENTS 
 

(a) Capital commitment 
 2019/2020 2018/2019 

 $'000 $'000 

   

Amount approved and contracted for 8,551 9,673 
   
   

 
Amount approved but not contracted for 12,895 6,183 

   
   

 
 

(b) Operating lease commitment (non-cancellable) 
 

Where the Polytechnic is the lessor 

 
Disclosure required under SB-FRS 116 

 
During the year ended March 31, 2020, the Polytechnic recognised rental income of 
S$4,838,000. Leases are with lease term up to 30 years. 

 

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments: 
   2019/2020 

   $’000 
    
  Year 1 4,117 
  Year 2 1,736 
  Year 3 1,066 
  Year 4 452 
  Year 5 452 
  Year 6 and onwards 8,585 

   16,408 

 
 

Disclosure required under SB-FRS 17 

 
At the reporting date, the Polytechnic had the following rental receivable under non-cancellable 
operating leases for leasing its premises to third parties. 

 
 2018/2019 

 $'000 

Rental income due:  

   - Within one year 3,924 

   - More than one year but less than five years 5,768 

   - More than five years 9,037 
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Where the Polytechnic is the lessee 
 

Disclosure required under SB-FRS 116 
 

At March 31, 2020, the Polytechnic is committed to approximately $63,000 for low value 
leases. 

 
Operating lease payments represent rental payable by the Polytechnic in respect of furnitures. 

 
 

Disclosure required under SB-FRS 17 
 

At March 31, 2019, the Polytechnic has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows: 

    
   2018/ 2019 

   $’000 
    
  Within one year 256 
  In the second to fifth years inclusive 87 
           343 
     

 

32. RESTRICTED FUND - NGEE ANN POLYTECHNIC FUND 

 

The Ministry of Education has an Education Central Fund, which has been designated as an Institution 

of Public Character (IPC). NP Fund was established on April 1, 2003 as a member of this Education 

Central Fund. Under this membership, the Fund is allowed to issue tax-deductible receipts to donors. 

Donations received by the Polytechnic are channeled to the Fund. 

 

The Fund has several sub-funds and the total fund balance comprised mainly accumulated surpluses 

of the sub-funds and the capital of endowment funds. A separate set of audited financial statements 

is prepared for the Fund. 

 

The Fund is managed by a Management Committee which is also the Council Committee of the 

Polytechnic. Under the rules and regulations of the Fund, the Fund shall not be dissolved unless so 

decided by the Polytechnic’s Council and the Commissioner of Charities is notified. In the event that 

the Fund is dissolved, the balance in the Fund shall be donated to another fund for the advancement 

of education in a Polytechnic which has IPC status or in the absence of such a fund, to the Education 

Fund of the Ministry of Education. 
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33. NGEE ANN KONGSI’S CONTRIBUTION 
 

(a) Under Section 20A of the Ngee Ann Kongsi (Incorporation) Ordinance, Chapter 370, the Kongsi’s 
“Committee of Management shall set apart 75% of all monies received by the Corporation by 
way of income from any source and of all monies arising from the sale or disposition or from the 
acquisition of any property belonging to the Corporation and shall contribute the same to the 
Ngee Ann Polytechnic constituted under the Ngee Ann Polytechnic Act”. 

 
  On July 17, 2007 the Ngee Ann Kongsi (Incorporation) (Amendment) Act 2007 was passed in 

Parliament to reduce the donations to be made by the Corporation to the Polytechnic from 75% 
of all monies received by the Corporation to 25% of the Corporation’s net income. This 
arrangement was effective from FY 2008/2009. 

 
  During the financial year, the Polytechnic received $11,426,000 (2018/2019: $8,409,000) from 

Ngee Ann Kongsi, of which $2,000,000 (2018/2019: $2,000,000) was taken to the Ngee Ann 
Kongsi Education Fund and the balance to the Ngee Ann Kongsi Endowment Fund. 

 
(b) In accordance with the agreed arrangements with MOE, when the funds management agreement 

with the Polytechnic’s fund manager expires, the gain or loss would be taken as realised. During 
the financial year, $5,796,000 (2018/2019: $4,932,000), representing 75% of the realised 

income of the Ngee Ann Kongsi Endowment Fund, was transferred to unrestricted fund to finance 
the operations of the Polytechnic. This amount reduces the operating grant received from the 
government correspondingly for the current financial year. 

 
(c) As disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements, Ngee Ann Kongsi had also donated freehold 

land to the Polytechnic. 
 

 
34. IPC REGULATIONS 
 
 The fund has complied with the requirement that the total fund-raising and sponsorship expenses have 

not exceeded 30% of the total gross receipts from the fund raising and sponsorships for the financial 
year. 

 

 The donation monies received are used in accordance with the objective of the fund. 
 
 To promote greater disclosure and accountability to the public, the Governance Evaluation Checklist of 

all IPCs will be published on the Charity Portal (www.charities.gov.sg) from April 1, 2009. In line with 
the requirement, the Polytechnic’s checklist can be found on the above website. 

 

 
35. TAXATION 
 
 All registered and exempt charities will enjoy automatic income tax exemption. There is, hence, no 

income tax payable by the Polytechnic. 
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36. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
 

 The outbreak of the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”) in early 2020 has caused disruptions 
to many industries globally. Despite the challenges, governments and international organisations 
have implemented a series of measures to contain the pandemic. 

 
The COVID-19 outbreak is an event that occurred during the Polytechnic’s financial reporting period 

and the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on the Polytechnic’s assets and liabilities have been 
assessed and recognised in the financial statements as at March 31, 2020. 

 
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period and as at the date the financial statements were 
authorised for issue (the “authorisation date”), management has also assessed the reasonably 
expected impact of COVID-19 as well as the volatility of the bonds and stock markets and the 
resultant impact on the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. Management considers 

this impact to be a non-adjusting event. 
 

Management will continue to closely monitor the development of the pandemic and assess its impact 
on the Polytechnic’s operations. Notwithstanding this, management has assessed that the 
Polytechnic will be able to maintain sufficient liquidity to enable it to continue as a going concern for 
at least the next 12 months from the authorisation date. 
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